
 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 

________________________________________________________________________ 

TONYA M. SCONIERS,   Civil File No._____________________ 

   Plaintiff, 

vs.          

DULUTH PUBLIC SCHOOLS, I.S.D.  
No. 709, WILLIAM GRONSETH, in his  
individual and official capacities, and  
JEFFREY HORTON, in his individual 
and official capacities,  
        
   Defendants. 

________________________________________________________________________ 

Here in America we are descended in blood and in spirit from 
revolutionaries and rebels—men and women who dared to 
dissent from accepted doctrine. As their heirs, may we never 
confuse honest dissent with disloyal subversion. 

—Dwight D. Eisenhower1 

The Defendants to this federal lawsuit—all public educators—would be 

wise to heed America’s history lessons on honest dissent, rather than work so 

earnestly to muffle, to stymie, and to silence one of their most boisterous leaders 

and colleagues, Plaintiff Tonya M. Sconiers, the now-former Principal of Denfeld 

High School in Duluth, Minnesota. 

 
1 The 34th President of the United States who, in 1957, integrated the formerly all-white Central 
High School in Little Rock, Ark., by ordering federal troops to escort nine black schoolchildren 
inside so they could enroll. The remarks: Dwight D. Eisenhower, speech at Columbia 
University's bicentennial, 31 May 1954, Public papers of the Presidents of the United States: Dwight 
D. Eisenhower (1961), p. 524. 
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Principal Sconiers dissents with passion and has done so proudly since 

going to work for the public schoolchildren of Duluth nearly 20 years ago—over 

institutional funding inequities and school board decisions that have a deleterious 

impact on students of color and those who are economically disadvantaged, for 

example.  

The Defendants, mired-in and myopic-from their own brand of accepted 

doctrine, have had enough with honest dissent, having set in motion a chain of 

events almost a year ago that plainly sighted Principal Sconiers in the district’s 

crosshairs as a disloyal subverter. 

The Defendants have gone too far, violating Principal Sconiers’ rights under 

the United States Constitution, among other protections including the Minnesota 

Whistleblower Act. And even after they were warned they were breaking the law, 

they refused to back down. 

Let this federal lawsuit educate them.  

To that important end, Plaintiff Tonya M. Sconiers, through her attorneys, 

Benjamin R. Kwan and C. Ted Haller IV, HALLER KWAN LLP, 323 N. Washington 

Ave., Suite 200, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55401, as and for her Complaint against 

the above-named Defendants, states and alleges as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. Plaintiff Tonya M. Sconiers alleges violations of her rights under the 

First Amendment of the United States Constitution, as enforceable through 42 

CASE 0:19-cv-02468   Document 1   Filed 09/09/19   Page 2 of 52



 

 3 

U.S.C. § 1983. She also brings supplemental state law claims for discrimination 

and reprisal under the Minnesota Human Rights Act, Minn. Stat. § 363A et seq. 

(the “MHRA”) and for whistle-blower retaliation under the Minnesota 

Whistleblower Act, Minn. Stat. § 181.931 to -.937 (the “MWA”). 

THE PARTIES  

2. Plaintiff Tonya M. Sconiers (“Plaintiff” or “Principal Sconiers”) is a 

51-year-old black woman and a resident of Duluth, Minnesota. She is the former 

Principal of Denfeld High School, one of two high schools in the Duluth Public 

Schools, I.S.D. No. 709, district.  

3. Defendant Duluth Public Schools, I.S.D. No. 709 (“DPS” or the 

“District”), is a public-school district organized within the State of Minnesota 

pursuant to Minn. Stat. § 123B, et seq. The District may be sued pursuant to Minn. 

Stat § 123B.25(a).  

4. Defendant William Gronseth is and has been, at all relevant times to 

this action, the Superintendent of DPS. He is sued in his individual and official 

capacities. 

5. Defendant Jeffrey Horton is and has been, since July 2018, an 

assistant superintendent of DPS. He is sued in his individual and official 

capacities.   

6. At all times relevant to this action, DPS was Plaintiff’s employer. 
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7. At all times relevant to this action, DPS was a state actor within the 

meaning of the Constitution.  

8. At all times relevant to this action, Defendants Gronseth and Horton 

were acting under color of state law. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has original jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s federal claims 

under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343(a)(3) because this is a civil action seeking 

redress for the deprivation of rights secured by the United States Constitution.  

10. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state law 

claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a) because those claims are part of the same case or 

controversy as Plaintiff’s federal claims. 

11. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because the events 

giving rise to the claims asserted substantially occurred in the District of 

Minnesota.  

FACTS 

Tonya M. Sconiers, the Educator, and Her Nearly Two-Decade History with DPS 

12. Principal Sconiers is a native of Colorado but proudly calls Duluth, 

Minnesota, home.  

13. Principal Sconiers is a married mother of three adult children—each 

a graduate of DPS themselves. Her husband, Dr. Mohammed A. Hasan, is also 
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an educator. He is a professor of electrical engineering at the University of 

Minnesota, Duluth.  

14. Principal Sconiers has been an educator since 1991, when she went 

to work as a fifth-grade teacher at Boulder Valley Public Schools in Colorado. 

15. DPS hired Principal Sconiers in March 2000 to work as assistant 

principal at Denfeld High School (“Denfeld”). 

16. In July 2012, the DPS School Board appointed her principal of 

Denfeld, the western, more urban sibling to the tonier East High School on the 

other side of the District.  

17. At that time, Principal Sconiers became only the 12th principal—and 

the only female—in Denfeld’s history since it opened as Irving High School in 

1905. She also happens to be the only black principal in the school district serving 

Minnesota’s fourth largest city.  

18. Beyond her devotion to the students of DPS inside the walls of 

Denfeld, Principal Sconiers was elected by her principal peers twice to serve as 

the president of the Duluth Principals’ Association, once in 2007-2008 and again 

for 2018-2020. She is a member of the NAACP, the National Association for 

Secondary School Principals, the Minnesota Association of Secondary School 

Principals, the Arrowhead Reading Council, and has served on the boards of 

Woodland Hills, Men as Peacemakers, and is currently on the board of Safe 
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Haven, a domestic violence shelter. In 2012 the Duluth YWCA awarded Principal 

Sconiers its Women of Distinction Award.  

19. Principal Sconiers has done far more than dissent during her tenure 

as principal of Denfeld, of course.  For example, she implemented a “Full Service 

Community School” model that meets students’ needs beyond academics in the 

areas of social, emotional, and health well-being. After obtaining a five-year state 

grant, she and her colleagues introduced “Check & Connect,” an early warning 

program focused on increasing graduation rates for African American and 

American Indian Special Education students.  During 2016-2017 and 2017-2018, 

Denfeld graduated 93 percent and 90 percent of its “Check & Connect” seniors 

for those respective school years. Graduation rates for African American 

students—while still lower than she’d like them to be—reached their highest 

percentage ever at 78 percent for the 2017-2018 school year and increased again 

in the 2018-2019 school year.  

20. During her nearly two-decade tenure, however, Principal Sconiers 

has borne witness to—and advocated for solutions to fix—a widening 

achievement gap for her students at Denfeld, when compared to achievement 

among students across town at East High School.  

21. For example, Principal Sconiers has observed and criticized publicly 

a DPS scheduling work-around called “Zero Hour” that perpetuates a gulf in 

opportunity between students on the West and East.  
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22. Principal Sconiers also assists and associates openly with a parent-

led group that has worked since early 2017 to uncover and change DPS finance 

practices that diverted state “basic skills” or “CompEd” funds2 away from lesser-

advantaged schoolchildren for whom the funds were intended under law, 

further contributing to an opportunity- and achievement-divide.  

23. Principal Sconiers isn’t afraid to ruffle feathers (respectfully and 

strategically) with her oft-recited refrain: “equal is not equitable.” When she 

speaks, she is usually noticed and heard—she’s a strong, charismatic, and 

gregarious black woman in a largely white part of the country.  

24. Her voice has reached a crescendo as the inequities mount—a status-

quo-eschewing plea on repeat within the halls of DPS. And DPS doesn’t like it 

anymore.  

A Sadly Familiar Tale—East vs. West, or, the Haves and the Have-Nots 

25.  To understand the urgency of Principal Sconiers’ plea and that of 

the community members and parents with whom she had aligned from her 

 
2 See generally Erin Golden and MaryJo Webster, $600M a year, yet achievement gap persists, 
Minneapolis Star Tribune, June 1, 2019, http://www.startribune.com/despite-targeted-
funding-struggling-students-still-experience-an-achievement-gap/510160142/, for an 
explanation of the “basic skills funds” or “CompEd” funds that Minnesota has invested to try 
and fight the achievement gap. See also Minn. Stat. § 126C.05, subdiv. 15(b)(i) (state law 
allocating the basic skills or CompEd funds). 
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perch on the inside, as it were, one must understand the current state of 

secondary education in Duluth. 

26. During the 2003-2004 school year, and as a result of declining 

enrollment and state aid, DPS eliminated the seventh period of its school day at 

its secondary schools and moved from three high schools to two as part of the 

Red Plan, a building plan that closed and consolidated schools while renovating 

and building new ones.3 

27. Since that consolidation, Denfeld has taught at least 500 fewer 

students than East High School each year because of the way the School Board 

and administration drew the district’s new enrollment boundary.4 

28. Whether they intended to or not, the DPS administration and School 

Board, as part of the Red Plan, segregated the richer (East) from the poorer 

(Denfeld on the west); the whiter (East) from the more diverse (Denfeld).  

29. Generally speaking, a smaller headcount at Denfeld also resulted in 

fewer dollars from the state each year, which doles out general funds on a per-

pupil basis. Yet Denfeld has a greater concentration of need—as viewed through 

the lens of any number of statistics.  

 
3 Jana Hollingsworth, Denfeld Principal, Counselors Worried for their Students and Future 
Opportunities, Duluth News Tribune, Nov. 12, 2016,  
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/education/4158193-denfeld-principal-
counselors-worried-their-students-and-future-opportunities. 
4 Id.  
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30. For example, while East had 16.8 percent of students eligible for free 

or reduced lunch in 2017, Denfeld had 55.2 percent of students with this lower-

income status. In addition, the percentage of East students who have Individual 

Educational Plans (IEPs) to address qualifying special education challenges sits 

at nine percent compared to Denfeld’s 26 percent.5 

31. Denfeld also happens to be far more racially and ethnically diverse 

than East, serving 25.7 percent students of color compared to 11.1% at East.  

32. Principal Sconiers also found that her students arrive at Denfeld 

with overwhelming needs as ninth graders.  As of 2015, 75 percent of Denfeld’s 

freshmen class was deficient in math and 67 percent deficient in reading. At that 

time, Principal Sconiers made a public plea to the School Board for Title I money 

so Denfeld wouldn’t have to solve its problem of underachievement alone.6 At 

that time, Denfeld did not receive federal poverty aid that goes to low-income, or 

Title I schools, despite its low-income status. The district chose instead to place 

that money at elementary and middle schools that qualified.7 

 
5 Anne Skwira-Brown, Beb Feyen, Tom Tusken, Local View: District, Stop Treating East, 
Denfeld in the Same Ways, Duluth News Tribune, Mar. 5, 2017, 
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/opinion/columns/4229497-local-view-district-stop-
treating-east-denfeld-same-ways. 
6 Jana Hollingsworth, Teachers, Principal Address Duluth School Board on Denfeld 
Underachievement, Duluth News Tribune, Mar. 10, 2015, 
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/3697143-teachers-principal-address-duluth-
school-board-denfeld-underachievement. 
7 Id. 
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33. Moreover, as of 2017, graduation rates in Duluth were declining 

during a period in which Minnesota’s statewide rates were improving. Denfeld’s 

graduation rate remained at about 76 percent while East was at nearly 95 

percent.8 

34. The achievement gap within DPS sadly falls along racial lines like it 

does elsewhere. In Duluth, that gap is particularly wide in four-year graduation 

rates and impacts the more-diverse Denfeld more heavily than the less-diverse 

East. In 2017, 36.8 percent of black students in the District graduated in four 

years, compared to 80.4 of white students.9 

35. Furthermore, an “opportunity gap” deepens the divide between the 

schools.  

36. As of 2017, and due to a larger and different student body, East 

offered its CITS (College in the Schools) and AP (Advanced Placement) courses 

numerous times during the day, including during an early-morning optional 

“Zero Hour” (explained below) for students who have difficulty fitting a 

particular course into their regular school day. For example, in 2017 CITS 

Chemistry was offered at East five times daily, including during the Zero Hour. 

Denfeld offered that same course only one time during the day—it is therefore 

 
8 Skwira-Brown, et al., supra n. 6.  
9 Pam Louwagie, Duluth Schools Promote Teaching, Thinking Critically About Inequity, 
Minneapolis Star Tribune, Jan. 6, 2019, http://www.startribune.com/duluth-schools-promote-
teaching-thinking-critically-about-inequity/503976712/. 

CASE 0:19-cv-02468   Document 1   Filed 09/09/19   Page 10 of 52



 

 11 

called a “singleton.” Thus, if singleton courses conflict with one another at 

Denfeld, students are not able to take both courses. One recent schoolyear, East 

had only five CITS/AP singleton course offerings. Denfeld had 12 CITS/AP 

singletons.10 

37. In 2017, three DPS parents wrote an op-ed in the Duluth News 

Tribune about the need for a paradigm shift from equality to equity:  

Equity recognizes differences and the importance of 
providing resources to meet unique needs. The work of 
teachers in the classroom inherently reflects this reality: 
Adjustments are made to better meet the needs of 
individual students. At the district level, an image of a 
three-level pyramid (green, yellow and red) represents 
different learning profiles and levels of support targeted 
to meet needs. 

On the other hand, equality sets out to provide everyone 
with the same thing. With our two sets of secondary 
schools, the district too often embraces an equality 
approach: a single course catalog, uniform schedules, 
and standard approaches to teaching students at each 
building with the intent of equalizing opportunities and 
experiences. On the surface, equality sounds good; yet, 
when it comes to meeting a wide range of educational 
needs, one size does not fit all.11 

38. Principal Sconiers quickly aligned herself with those parents, 

members of the grassroots group of parents, community members, and school 

district employees who launched the Community-Based School Equity Initiative 

in early 2017.  

 
10 Skwira-Brown, et al., supra n. 6. 
11 Id.  
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39. In recent years, two DPS practices in particular have been called into 

question by Principal Sconiers and others for their roles in widening the 

opportunity and achievement gaps for Duluth’s secondary schoolchildren.  

“Zero Hour,” a Budget-Minded Scheduling Fix, Widens Opportunity Gulf  

40.  As part of the Red Plan, Duluth went from a seven-period to a six-

period school day in 2003-2004.  

41. The change obviously meant DPS students would have fewer course 

offerings to choose from—but District administrators came up with a work-

around.  

42. They call it “Zero Hour.” 

43. Zero Hour is a voluntary period offered before school that 

ultimately causes a disparity between students who take the extra classes and 

those who do not or, more critically, cannot, Principal Sconiers told the School 

Board Education Committee in September 2015, among many other times.12  

44. Zero Hour course offerings at the two high schools include health, 

science, student government, physical education, and elite music classes. The 

additional class period—"Zero Hour”—early in the morning before the District’s 

official school day begins enables some students to earn more credits in high 

 
12 Lisa Kaczke, Duluth High School Principals Discuss Concerns About Class Offerings, Duluth 
News Trib., Sep. 15, 2015, https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/3839955-duluth-high-
school-principals-discuss-concerns-about-class-offerings. 

CASE 0:19-cv-02468   Document 1   Filed 09/09/19   Page 12 of 52



 

 13 

school and can increase those students’ grade-point averages, opening the door 

to increased opportunities for scholarships, college admissions, etc.  

45. Principal Sconiers is a vocal critic of Zero Hour for several reasons. 

For one, students need to find their own transportation to school if they register 

for Zero Hour because the District doesn’t cover transportation until the actual 

school day begins. Over the years, Principal Sconiers has seen first-hand that her 

more economically-disadvantaged students at Denfeld cannot always make it to 

school for the voluntary Zero Hour, meaning fewer opportunities for them.  

46. Principal Sconiers has been an advocate for dismantling Zero Hour 

so that the money it takes to run Zero Hour (to resolve any doubt: it isn’t free—

the teachers for Zero Hour classes aren’t volunteering to come in early) can be 

used within the normal school day to enhance and provide opportunities for all 

students, not just the privileged few who can make it in early with their own 

transportation. 

47. For example, Principal Sconiers told the Duluth News Tribune in 

March 2017 that “six periods in a day is a schedule that does not afford our 

students all the opportunities they need to be the most successful.”13 She told the 

 
13 Jana Hollingsworth, Should Duluth Middle, High Schools Bring Back a Seventh Class Period? 
Mar. 19, 2017, https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/education/4236969-should-
duluth-middle-high-schools-bring-back-seventh-class-period. 
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newspaper that Denfeld needed its seventh period back, calling for a block 

schedule of at least seven or possibly even eight periods.14 

48. Her view was in direct contrast to DPS administration’s view, one of 

whom called the seven-period day “an old-school model.”15 

Parent-Led Equity Group Uncovers Questionable DPS Finance Practices  

49.  Around the same time as the 2017 public debate over school 

funding and the Zero Hour, a grassroots group of parents and teachers came 

together with the focus of fixing east-west educational inequities in Duluth.  

50. The Community-Based School Equity Initiative (the “Equity Team”) 

launched and immediately got to work to explore some of the institutional 

structures that were perpetuating the achievement and opportunity gaps 

everyone could see, but few seemed to have the will to fix.  

51. The Equity Team, while focused on the entirety of the District, had a 

decidedly Denfeld feel to it.  It was made up of mostly Denfeld parents and 

teachers and it held its meetings at Denfeld. The Equity Team also counted on 

Denfeld teachers and administrators like Principal Sconiers for support and for 

key inside information as they investigated the equity gap, systemic DPS failings, 

and possible solutions.  

 
14 See id.  
15 Id.  
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52. The Equity Team soon uncovered that DPS administration was 

unfairly allocating state funds intended to serve under-prepared students.  

53. Minnesota public school buildings are allocated specific 

“compensatory education” or “CompEd” money by the State of Minnesota based 

on their respective population of students taking part in the federal, free- and 

reduced-price lunch program. The district is required to keep at least 50 percent 

of the money generated by those students at the school buildings where those 

students attend classes, but can shift the balance around the district. 

Traditionally, DPS had elected to spread that money around inequitably with the 

singular goal of lowering class sizes across the district—even in wealthier, more 

privileged classrooms that didn’t necessarily need the state’s CompEd funding 

help.16 

54.  The Equity Team found that DPS was spreading around these 

special funds such that Denfeld retained less CompEd money than its low-

income students generated. In contrast and across town, the more well-to-do East 

High School was allocated nearly 400 percent of the CompEd money its own 

students generated.  

 
16 Jana Hollingsworth, Distribution of State Money to Duluth Schools Raises Concerns, Duluth 
News Tribune, Apr. 14, 2017, 
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/education/4251189-distribution-state-money-
duluth-schools-raises-concerns. 
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55. Following its formation, the Equity Team sent representatives to 

speak at every public meeting it could. Among its first goals: curtail DPS’s 

diversion of CompEd funds from the students who generated them (meaning 

needed them) to school buildings whose students did not.  

56. The Equity Team faced an early setback in November 2017 when the 

DPS School Board rejected a resolution to change the way CompEd funds were 

allocated.17 But in January 2018, with new board members seated following 

earlier elections, the DPS School Board enacted a finance change that guaranteed 

each of its schools would keep at least 80 percent of the CompEd funds 

generated by its students.18 

57. But the work of the Equity Team is not over—its work and vigilance 

over DPS administration continues today, much to the chagrin of administrators 

like Superintendent Gronseth and Assistant Superintendent Horton, Principal 

Sconiers has learned.  

Principal Sconiers’ Protected Speech and Association on Equity Issues 

58.  Principal Sconiers has been a vocal critic of DPS policies on funding, 

budgeting, and scheduling—all matters of public concern that are above her 

 
17 Jana Hollingsworth, Duluth School Board Denies Compensatory Education Funding, Duluth 
News Tribune, Nov. 28, 2017, https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/4366367-duluth-
school-board-denies-compensatory-education-funding-change. 
18 Adelle Whitefoot, Duluth School Board Approves Comp Ed Changes, Duluth News Tribune, 
Jan. 23, 2018, https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/education/4392709-duluth-school-
board-approves-comp-ed-changes. 
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paygrade as Principal of Denfeld High School only—for at least as long as she 

has been principal. Recently, she was able to put her words to action beyond her 

regular job duties by associating with the Equity Team of parents and 

community members. 

59. For example, Principal Sconiers has granted interviews to reporters 

from the Duluth News Tribune; has been quoted in the same publication when 

speaking out on matters of public concern as a private citizen at public meetings; 

she has raised the issues in private conversations with DPS administrators 

numerous times; and in October 2017, she even contributed to a national 

documentary series about the achievement gap in education—the episode 

featuring DPS aired for the first time locally this Spring.19   

60.  In September 2015, Principal Sconiers spoke out at a DPS Education 

Committee meeting, highlighting the disparity in educational opportunity 

between students in the District who take the optional Zero Hour offerings and 

those students who simply cannot.20 

61. On or about May 4, 2016, Principal Sconiers called for the outright 

elimination of Zero Hour during a Secondary Principals Meeting—for, among 

other reasons, its role in widening the achievement gap among poorer students 

 
19 A preview of the “Our Kids: Narrowing the Opportunity Gap” documentary episode 
featuring Principal Sconiers can be viewed at, https://vimeo.com/312612459. 
20 Lisa Kaczke, Duluth High School Principals Discuss Concerns About Class Offerings, Duluth 
News Trib., Sep. 15, 2015, https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/3839955-duluth-high-
school-principals-discuss-concerns-about-class-offerings. 
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and students of color. At that meeting, Superintendent Gronseth expressed 

reservation at the position—noting that there would be a lot of opposition from 

parents in the East. She repeated these concerns at a School Board meeting later 

that month—public comments again republished in the Duluth News Tribune.21 

62. On or about November 10, 2016, Principal Sconiers shared similar 

views with Jana Hollingsworth, a reporter for the Duluth News Tribune, during 

a group interview including other administrators like Superintendent Gronseth, 

then-Assistant Superintendent Amy Starzecki, and the Principal for East High 

School. The newspaper reported some of her comments in an article published 

later that week.22 

63. On March 19, 2017, the Duluth News Tribune again published 

comments from Principal Sconiers that contradicted the administration and the 

School Board’s preference for maintaining the Zero Hour.23 

64. After the formation of the Equity Team in early 2017, Principal 

Sconiers began associating with its parent-members and assembling with them at 

 
21 Jana Hollingsworth, Duluth School Board Debates ‘Zero Hour’ Cuts, May 16, 2016, 
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/4034042-duluth-school-board-debates-zero-hour-
cuts. 
22 Jana Hollingsworth, Denfeld Principal, Counselors Worried for their Students and Future 
Opportunities, Nov. 12, 2016, 
https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/education/4158193-denfeld-principal-
counselors-worried-their-students-and-future-opportunities. 
23 Jana Hollingsworth, Should Duluth Middle, High Schools Bring Back a Seventh Class Period? 
Mar. 19, 2017, https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/news/education/4236969-should-
duluth-middle-high-schools-bring-back-seventh-class-period. 
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public meetings. For example, Principal Sconiers often sat next to one of the 

Equity Team’s leaders during School Board and other public meetings, trading 

comments and passing notes back and forth during public comment and 

debate—in clear view of Defendant Gronseth.  At other times, Principal Sconiers 

physically stood with the members of the Equity Team as they made various 

presentations.  

65. Principal Sconiers also regularly attended Equity Team meetings 

and public presentations, which were generally held at Denfeld High School.  

66. In October 2017, documentarians from the Media Policy Center in 

Santa Monica, Calif., invited Principal Sconiers, Kevin Skwira-Brown, one of the 

parent-leaders of the Equity Team, and Tom Tusken, then a teacher and now an 

assistant principal at Denfeld High School, to be a part of an interview for its 

upcoming series, “Our Kids: Narrowing the Opportunity Gap.”  

67. Principal Sconiers and the others sat for on-camera interviews at 

Denfeld High School on October 25, 2017. 

68. Principal Sconiers did not seek DPS permission to participate in the 

series on the achievement gap—nor was she required to do so on this matter of 

public concern.  

69. Among other things, Principal Sconiers told the documentarians 

from the Media Policy Center that the way the system is designed and the way 

the system is functioning is her “greatest sorrow.”  
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70. Principal Sconiers was able to view a preview of the documentary in 

January 2019. 

71. Upon information and belief, DPS administrators and Board 

Members have also seen the documentary preview and episode. 

72. The episode featuring DPS and the work of the Equity Team aired in 

Duluth for the first time on Friday, April 19, 2019, on WDSE, Channel 8. 

Leaders Express Disdain for Principal Sconiers’ Speech and Association 

73. DPS disdain for Principal Sconiers’ protected activities first emerged 

as small seeds—various comments and gestures along the way. Those seeds have 

now fully bloomed into retaliatory actions that include what is believed to be an 

unprecedented six days’ worth of unpaid suspension levied against Principal 

Sconiers this past school year. For example, Superintendent Gronseth refers to 

Principal Sconiers and two of her principal-colleagues as “Mean Girls.”  

74. DPS administrators and board members might have presumed that, 

when the School Board passed changes to the CompEd funding redistribution 

problem in January 2018, they had seen the last of the Equity Team.  That would 

have been a wrong assumption.  

75. Following that first win, the Equity Team continues its work and 

vigilance to find long-term and sustainable solutions to the achievement- and 

opportunity-gap problems in Duluth and to hold DPS and district administration 

accountable.  
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76. After January 2018, District administrators like Superintendent 

Gronseth began displaying frustration with the steady drumbeat of calls for 

equity.  

77. For example, during an April 11, 2018, Secondary Principals 

Meeting, Superintendent Gronseth presented a budget to them and discussed 

ideas with them for further budget cuts.  

78. Seizing yet another opportunity to advance ideas that could lead to 

greater equity between Denfeld and East, Principal Sconiers proposed that DPS 

eliminate Zero Hour, a move she estimated could also save the District $192,000 

per year as a result of yet another unintended consequence of offering Zero Hour 

in the first place—schools end up with part-time seniors who load up on credits 

early because they are able to participate in Zero Hour and therefore yield their 

school buildings less state money by the time they are seniors because they are 

able to attend only part-time.  

79. At the suggestion, Superintendent Gronseth abruptly got up and left 

the room without explanation. Approximately five minutes later, he returned 

and apologized for walking out of the meeting.  He reported to the group that he 

was frustrated with Principal Sconiers and her opposition.  

80. Also in April 2018, during an annual, springtime one-on-one 

meeting between Principal Sconiers and Superintendent Gronseth, he openly 

questioned the efficacy, motive, and role of the parent-led Equity Team in 
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examining District data so closely and drawing conclusions about what was 

equitable and what was not. 

81. Surprised at the comment, Principal Sconiers told Superintendent 

Gronseth that she was glad to see the parent group become active because, for 

too long, voices from the west had not been included in these important 

discussions about equity.  The conversation led to a discussion about equity, 

race, and poverty and how those issues impact families at Denfeld.  

82. By implication, of course, Superintendent Gronseth questioned 

Principal Sconiers’ active role in associating with the Equity Team as a district 

administrator herself. 

 Principal Sconiers is Treated Differently Because of her Speech, Race 

83.    Within the last few years, Principal Sconiers has had to push back 

on a DPS notion that she is “loud” and “intimidating,” among other culturally 

insensitive and biased characterizations about her leadership style.  

84. At first, it appeared to be an opportunity for a mutual discussion 

about cultures and perceptions. Time has proven Principal Sconiers wrong.  

85. During an annual evaluation in June 2017, then-Assistant 

Superintendent Starzecki shared with Principal Sconiers that someone else had 

shared that Principal Sconiers was “intimidating,” referencing the tone and level 

of Principal Sconiers’ voice.  
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86. Principal Sconiers pushed back in a professional way—telling the 

assistant superintendent that she feared she was being treated differently 

because she’s a black female in leadership. The discussion became wide-ranging 

and included topics like perception, culture, race, and gender. Principal Sconiers 

pointed out that there is a difference between being direct and confrontational.  

87. At all times, Principals Sconiers has striven to be tactful, strategic, 

and inclusive in her leadership style and categorically denies any 

characterizations to the contrary. To this day, Principal Sconiers maintains a 

strong relationship with many colleagues with whom she has discussed 

inclusion and biases, like former Assistant Superintendent Starzecki.  

Defendant Horton: “What do you know about Principal Tonya Sconiers?” 

88. More recently, however, Assistant Superintendent Starzecki’s 

successor, Defendant Horton, who started with DPS in July 2018, began 

criticizing Principal Sconiers’ speech and assembly at public meetings.  

89.  Principal Sconiers has learned that Defendant Horton had his sights 

on her since he first started at DPS. Upon information and belief,  Defendant 

Horton sat through an approximately two-hour transition meeting in June 2018 

with his predecessor without asking questions—until the very end. The first 

thing he asked his predecessor? “What do you know about Principal Tonya 

Sconiers? I have heard some things about her,” or words to that effect. 
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Principal Sconiers Engages in Additional Protected Conduct  

90. On August 6, 2018, WDIO.com published a news report24 about the 

hiring by DPS of a principal who had been previously placed on paid 

administrative leave by another school district during an investigation into 

complaints against him. 

91.  Principal Sconiers texted Superintendent Gronseth a message 

asking him, in part, “What is our “Why” as a district [for hiring the principal in 

light of the paid administrative leave]?” 

92. She continued, in part, “Duluth Public Schools is better than what I 

see happening, including hiring decisions. . . this decision is yet another 

opportunity for our community to question our integrity as a district and our 

core beliefs regarding education [of] their children.” 

93. Superintendent Gronseth bristled, questioning whether Principal 

Sconiers had pre-judged a new colleague.  She responded to say that she would 

lend her new colleague her full support (and she did—she was, for 2018-2019, the 

President of the Duluth Principals’ Association, the principals’ union). But she 

reiterated that her comments were focused on building public trust vis-à-vis the 

District’s hiring practices.  

 
24 Ryan Juntti, Former Barnum School Principal Placed on Leave Hired in Duluth, WDIO.com, 
Aug. 6, 2018, https://www.wdio.com/news/barnum-school-district-cawcutt-duluth-
homecroft/5019537/. 
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Principal Sconiers’ Protected Speech on Defendant Horton’s Multiple DWIs 

94. Then, in November 2018, the issue of DPS hiring practices arose 

once again—this time with regard to Defendant Horton.  

95. In her extra-curricular role as President of the Duluth Principals’ 

Association (the “DPA”), Principal Sconiers began fielding concerns from her 

DPS principal-colleagues over the hiring of their new supervisor, Defendant 

Horton, soon after the 2018-2019 school year began in September.  

96. The concerns resulted in a list of items that the DPA union 

membership wanted Principal Sconiers to share with Superintendent Gronseth.   

97. The pair spoke by phone about the concerns on November 28, 2018. 

98. In the wake of their conversation in August about DPS hiring 

practices, the November 28 conversation turned into a discussion about matters 

of public concern—namely how administrators were being evaluated for critical 

administrative roles within the District. Principal Sconiers again questioned the 

District’s ability to gain public trust and confidence.  Upon information and 

belief, around the same time, DPS Principals Lehna and Shermone also met with 

Superintendent Gronseth to discuss DPS hiring practices in light of the fact that 

Assistant Superintendent Horton had been hired despite having a record of DWI 

convictions—a fact administrators failed to share with the DPS board (with the 

exception of the board chair) as well as the interview team tasked with hiring the 

new assistant superintendent.  
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99. If this new debate over a matter of public concern did not catch her 

new direct supervisor’s attention and perhaps further roil Superintendent 

Gronseth, others did.  

100. In September and October 2018, during various meetings both 

public and private, Principal Sconiers raised concerns over the third levy 

question DPS elected to put to voters during the upcoming, November 2018 

referendum.  

101. For more than a year-and-a-half, the District’s Secondary Scheduling 

Task Force (as well as the Equity Team of parents) had advocated putting a 

question on the ballot to see if taxpayers would fund the monies necessary to 

expand the school day for secondary students—to fix the problem caused by the 

Red Plan and exacerbated by the optional Zero Hour.  

102. But all of a sudden, in a surprise move without much discussion, the 

DPS Board substituted the secondary scheduling levy proposal for one relating 

to one-to-one technology devices for students in the District.  

103. Principal Sconiers demanded to know who discussed this proposal 

for the Board’s consideration prior to its about-face and to know what research 

and data supported the ask of taxpayers.  

104. Superintendent Gronseth responded that she ought to ask Assistant 

Superintendent Horton because he’s an expert on technology and one-to-one 
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devices, and because he is apparently doing a graduate school dissertation on the 

topic. 

Principal Sconiers Becomes a Target of Retaliation 

105. Within about three weeks of when she again called DPS hiring 

practices into question—on top of all of her increasingly boisterous dissent over 

the years on matters of deep public concern—on December 21, 2018, DPS issued 

Principal Sconiers a three page “Letter of Reprimand”—outlining various 

allegations that simply did not reflect reality. 

106. What came as the biggest surprise to Principal Sconiers is that no 

one came to speak with her about the issues in the December 21 letter, first —

after all, she is a nearly 20-year DPS employee with a sterling record save for one 

documented item in 2016 for an isolated issue that was remedied.  

107. Nevertheless, Principal Sconiers reflected over winter break and 

decided she was content to correct misperceptions, to do as her employer asked, 

and to move forward.  

108. But that wouldn’t be so easy. A target was affixed to her back. 

109. Immediately following winter break, on January 4, 2019, DPS 

informed Principal Sconiers that she was now under investigation and would 

need to be interviewed by DPS outside-attorney, Liz J. Viera. Principal Sconiers 

participated in the interview on January 11, 2019. 
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110. Nearly two months later, on March 6 or 7, 2019, Principal Sconiers 

received an 11-page letter, a “Notice of Suspension, Notice of Deficiencies, and 

Letter of Directives” in conjunction with the investigation.  

111. The letter, signed by Defendant Horton, notified Principal Sconiers 

that DPS would be suspending her without pay for an unprecedented five school 

days between March 8, 2019 and March 14, 2019. 

112. The entire investigation was ginned up as an ends-based process to 

“paper” Principals Sconiers’ file in an effort to create a pretext or cover so DPS 

could illegally discharge Principal Sconiers. 

113. The investigation and resulting suspension were legally suspect for 

a few reasons.   

114. First, it probed a number of legitimate issues that, in Principal 

Sconiers’ nearly 20 years with the District, would ordinarily be dealt with by 

picking up a phone or writing an email to engage stakeholders at various levels 

of Denfeld (not just Principal Sconiers—who took ultimate responsibility but 

shared many daily duties with dozens of staff, obviously) who could remedy 

educational issues and challenges.  

115. Second, the investigation was also suspect because it probed issues 

from one- and two-years prior to the 2018-2019 school year. 

116. Third, the investigation was suspect because it punished Principal 

Sconiers for conduct that is perfectly acceptable for other DPS employees who 
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are not black and who have not engaged in as much Constitutionally- and 

statutorily-protected speech.  For example, she is disciplined for speaking out of 

turn during a School Board Education Committee meeting on December 10, 2018 

on a calendaring topic when she was merely just trying to be helpful.  

117. Fourth, the alleged misconduct is suspiciously hyper-focused on her 

protected conduct—her speech. Moreover, the “discipline” and “directives” 

include thinly-veiled attempts to paint Principal Sconiers into the trope of “angry 

black woman” with comments like: 
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In other comments, DPS bent over backwards to instruct its nearly 20-year 

employee to be everything but herself and to teach her communications-101: 
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118. Fifth, and perhaps most importantly, beyond the thinly-veiled 

attacks on Principal Sconiers’ protected conduct and who she is, the 11-page set 

of directives is facially unconstitutional because it explicitly restrained Principal 

Sconiers’ ability to speak on matters of public concern:  

 

 and: 

 

119. On April 30, 2019, Assistant Superintendent Horton sprang another 

one-day, unpaid suspension on Principal Sconiers—this one for a truly blown-

out-of-proportion allegation.  
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120. According to DPS, it learned on March 22, 2019, that a Denfeld 

staffer (not a third-party, but an actual Denfeld employee) had shared student 

grade data in an otherwise secure online folder that was accessible to all-staff at 

Denfeld rather than just a subgroup of staff on a “need-to-know” basis. Rather 

than follow-up right away to correct what DPS would later call an over-share of 

information with staff who shouldn’t normally have access to grades, DPS 

waited five days to speak with Principal Sconiers about the matter, ostensibly so 

it could set up another pretextual investigation as a cover for retaliation and 

discrimination.  

121. In the April 30 suspension letter that followed—Principal Sconiers is 

warned that she may face “immediate discharge” for further infractions.  

122. DPS also ordered her to serve her additional and sixth day of unpaid 

suspension the following day—May 1, 2019, also recognized around the country 

as School Principals’ Day. 

Additional Legally Protected Conduct During First Investigation Interim 

123. Not in any way by design, but merely by coincidence and as a 

function of timing during the pendency of the so-called investigation into 

Principal Sconiers’ alleged misconduct that began in January 2019, Principal 

Sconiers engaged in additional protected conduct under the law.  

124. On February 6, 2019, during a visit to Denfeld by representatives 

from the Minnesota Department of Education (“MDE”) in charge of managing 
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state programs for at-risk students, Principal Sconiers reported facts to the 

representatives that implicated statutory and regulatory violations by DPS. 

125. Specifically, Principal Sconiers told the representatives, Mary Barrie 

and Sally Reynolds, that DPS had not received any increase in funding for its 

fiscal year 2019 budget since the original allocation of funds to Denfeld in the 

spring of 2018.  

126. Upon information and belief, that news came as a surprise to Barrie 

and Reynolds—part of their “drop in” site visit to Denfeld on that day, February 

6, 2019, was to inquire about whether DPS increased funds for at-risk students 

for the school year to buildings within DPS like Denfeld.  

127. Upon information and belief, Barrie had, through Greg Keith (MDE 

Chief Academic Officer) and Denise Anderson (MDE Chief Financial Officer) 

sent DPS a letter dated November 1, 2018, apprising Superintendent Gronseth 

that DPS was not in compliance with regard to its allocation of CompEd funding 

to its various schools within the District and further demanding that DPS make 

funding changes (i.e., increases to certain schools like Denfeld and an Area 

Learning Center or “school-within-a-school” inside Denfeld).  

128. Upon information and belief, Superintendent Gronseth wrote back 

to MDE on November 28, 2018, and represented to MDE that “changes have been 

made” and that the “compensatory allocations meet or exceed your 

recommendations.” 
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129. Thus—the basis for Barrie’s surprise. Superintendent Gronseth said 

“changes have been made” on November 28, 2018, but on February 6, 2019, 

Barrie learned from Principal Sconiers that she had not seen any upward 

increases to Denfeld’s budget for fiscal year 2019.  

130. In other words, Principal Sconiers reported facts to Barrie that 

implicated a DPS violation of law—namely, that no changes had been made and 

that CompEd funds had been misallocated—or, perhaps, that their original 

misallocation had been covered up with an accounting shell game.  

131. Perhaps what matters most is this:  MDE effectively told DPS to 

make changes to get at-risk students more money and DPS possibly did not do it.  

132. After Barrie and Reynolds left Denfeld for the day on February 6, 

2019, Principal Sconiers learned that Barrie was asked not to speak with Principal 

Sconiers again outside the presence of DPS administrators such as Assistant 

Superintendent Horton.  

133. In fact, upon information and belief, Assistant Superintendent 

Horton emailed Barrie on February 7, 2019, and instructed her to include him on 

any future site visits to DPS schools. Upon information and belief, that is not the 

regular practice of MDE investigators like Barrie, who regularly make drop-in 

site visits across the state.  
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Principal Sconiers Alerts the District to Suspected Retaliation 

134. Principal Sconiers alerted DPS administration on April 29, 2019, 

through the undersigned counsel, that she had engaged lawyers to investigate 

her unprecedented five days of unpaid suspension served in March and to warn 

the district about allowing its leaders to take further retaliatory actions. 

135.  Brazenly, the very next day, on April 30, Principal Sconiers was 

notified of the second, one-day, unpaid suspension.  

136. As the 2018-2019 school year drew to a close, Principal Sconiers was 

somewhat unmoored and dizzied by the onslaught of allegations against her and 

the clear attempts by her leaders to “paper” her way out the door. But she 

remained committed to following their directives—dripping with implicit and 

explicit bias or not—and serving the high school students of Denfeld.  

137. She did so ably—as celebrator-in-chief at graduation; and even as 

consoler following a Denfeld tragedy the week after classes ended.  

138. When she attended Denfeld’s graduation on Thursday, June 6, 2019, 

Principal Sconiers did not anticipate that it would be her last. But it was.  

DPS Initiates Another Pretextual Investigation, Foists Discharge Vote on Board 
 

139. Following the end of the 2018-2019 school year, and in spite of 

putting DPS on notice that she suspected district leaders were retaliating against 

her, DPS informed Principal Sconiers on June 18, 2019, that she was being put on 

paid administrative leave following more mysterious “allegations against” her.  
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140. DPS informed Principal Sconiers that she could not know the nature 

of the latest set of allegations against her—but that she could learn about them 

and answer for them during another interview with DPS lawyer, Liz J. Viera.  

141. Principal Sconiers participated in the interview on June 26, 2019. 

142. She became immediately suspect about the need for a paid 

administrative leave and the DPS contention that there had been new 

“allegations” made against her—primarily because Ms. Viera began asking 

Principal Sconiers about a broad range of topics that spanned a considerable 

amount of time—pre-dating the April 30 notice of one-day suspension.  Principal 

Sconiers became nervous—naturally—that DPS leadership was continuing to 

pretextually dig up things on her to “paper” her way out the door.  

143. Nevertheless, Principal Sconiers truthfully answered Ms. Viera’s 

questions during the interview and made every attempt to be helpful and 

candid. 

144. Troublingly and of serious concern—Ms. Viera was ostensibly (and 

hopefully) tasked with conducting fair fact-finding based on the “allegations 

against” Principal Sconiers. Ms. Viera, however, works for the same law firm that 

has been tasked with defending against, and responding to, Principal Sconiers’ 

allegations of illegal retaliation and discrimination. This raises the specter of an 

ends-based investigation with a predetermined outcome. The evidence suggests 

that is exactly what happened.  
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145. In other words, the so-called “investigation” was conducted by a 

law firm with a serious and disqualifying conflict, at best, or was a pretextual 

ruse to oust Principal Sconiers, at worst. In reality, it was both. 

146. On July 29, 2019, without any further questioning or substantive 

opportunity to respond to the “allegations” (that Principal Sconiers only learned 

about on June 26 directly from Ms. Viera), DPS  School Board Chair Rosie 

Loeffler-Kemp penned a letter notifying Principal Sconiers that the School Board 

had voted—presumably at the insistence of Ms. Viera’s law firm, Defendant 

Gronseth, and Defendant Horton—and “proposed to discharge [Principal 

Sconiers] effective immediately based on the following grounds: “immoral 

character, conduct unbecoming a principal, insubordination; failure without 

justifiable cause to act as a principal; and inefficiency in the management of a 

school.” 

147. To support such a broad and misleading conclusion, DPS first 

alleged that Principal Sconiers failed to take responsibility for a communication 

lag-time regarding the enrollment and class-start-date of a possibly-homeless 

student within 24 hours after she missed a support-staff email. DPS claims that, 

because the student was actually able to start classes within about 48 hours 

instead of 24, Principal Sconiers failed a March directive to email the Assistant 

Superintendent, Defendant Horton, within 24 hours of any issues regarding 

homeless students. Ironically, Defendant Horton (along with Principal Sconiers) 
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was notified by email by the district’s Family-In-Transition Advocate that the 

student had been successfully enrolled—so Principal Sconiers moved along to 

other Denfeld matters. In a sentence: the punishment does not fit the crime.   

148. The second basis for discharge cited in the DPS letter of July 29 

alleged that Principal Sconiers inefficiently managed Denfeld by assigning 

various teachers to an English classroom after its normal teacher’s abrupt 

resignation in February 2019 following an unrelated controversy. DPS alleges 

that, by assigning other Denfeld teachers to fill the vacancy and give her students 

a consistent sub for the rest of the school year, Principal Sconiers caused DPS to 

“overload” union faculty and to put a teacher in the classroom on a substitute 

basis without licensure in teaching English.  There is a significant problem with 

this June 2019 accusation. DPS Human Resources Director Tim Sworsky 

approved the “Req.” or “Requisition” in March 2019 and the Denfeld teachers 

wanted the assignments—in part because the students in that English classroom 

were not getting consistent teaching, with different subs in and out of the 

classroom every few days. In a sentence: Principal Sconiers was punished by 

DPS three months after DPS approved of the solution—that’s called digging up 

cover for retaliation (especially considering DPS regularly, and across the 

district, puts long-term substitutes in classrooms who regularly do not have the 

precise licensure in the subject matter for which they are going to sub).  
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149.  The third basis for discharge was an allegation that Principal 

Sconiers called in sick when she wasn’t sick.  She was sick on the day in 

question, May 10, 2019, and called-out by properly following DPS procedures. 

DPS and Ms. Viera pretended to disbelieve Principal Sconiers and used the fact 

that her son’s college graduation was the next day in Madison, Wisc., to invent a 

fake theory that she misused a sick day to serve DPS’s preordained goal of 

creating a basis for termination. Real evidence shows that Principal Sconiers had 

every intention of being at school on May 10 but was, in fact, sick.  Had she 

planned to misuse a sick day she would not have told a colleague, Ethan Fisher, 

the following on the night of May 9: 
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150. The fourth basis for discharge in the July 29 letter accuses Principal 

Sconiers of “lying” to Superintendent Gronseth in May 2019 about a fluid and 

evolving set of budget goals for Denfeld for the 2019-2020 school year. DPS 

claims that Principal Sconiers lied when she told Defendant Gronseth in 

conversations on May 15, 17, and 20 that a committee of her administrators and 

staffers at Denfeld was going to propose hiring two new positions at Denfeld to 

assist with its “Positive Behavior Intervention and Support” program to manage 

behavioral interventions. This committee is called a “Continuous Improvement 

Team” or “CIT” and it meets twice a month—it doesn’t “vote on” or “approve” 

anything—it comes to a consensus on Denfeld budget recommendations to 

request from DPS.  In fact, the CIT had been discussing these two new positions 

for weeks and had even come up with position descriptions. Principal Sconiers—

in one of the conversations where it’s alleged she was “lying”—proactively 

called Defendant Gronseth to ask him about the viability of hiring two new 

positions and calling them “deans.” Around that same time, DPS did approve 

the hiring of two positions and ultimately, those two “deans” are working at 

Denfeld today. In a sentence:  Defendant Gronseth was grasping at straws to 

invent a wrong where there wasn’t one.  
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151. What it all boils down to is: Principal Sconiers was fired for missing 

an email, taking a sick day,25 taking emergency action to assign teachers to a 

classroom with district approval, and truthfully communicating preliminary 

budget recommendations that were taking shape at Denfeld. What a disgraceful 

way to end a nearly 20-year career with the district.  

Principal Sconiers Chooses to Pursue Remedies in Federal Court 

152. After receiving the July 29 termination letter, Principal Sconiers 

exercised her right to put a hold on the discharge pending a hearing pursuant to 

Minnesota’s Teacher Tenure Act (“TTA”) by timely requesting one.  

153. After careful reflection on the whole of DPS’s actions, Principal 

Sconiers withdrew her request for a TTA arbitration by sending notice in writing 

on September 9, 2019, to Tim Sworsky, DPS’s human resources manager, so that 

she could pursue a more meaningful set of remedies in federal court instead—

this lawsuit, in other words.    

 
25 In fact, Principal Sconiers had banked approximately 118 sick days, or $83,000.00 in unused 
sick time, during her 19 years with the district by the time of her discharge notice—because she 
rarely took sick days. She estimates she took 4.5 sick days per year during her tenure—a feat 
considering that when she started at DPS at age 31, she had three children ages two, three, and 
ten. By discharging Principal Sconiers, DPS has stolen those banked monies from her (under 
state law, they were hers to keep assuming she could retire at DPS after reaching age 55). 
Accordingly, the irony that using one sick day is a reason for her discharge is not lost on 
Principal Sconiers.  
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154. Principal Sconiers takes this weighty step in a public and 

transparent forum only after exhausting all efforts to reasonably and amicably 

remedy DPS’s illegal actions without the need for a lawsuit.  

The Lasting Impact of the Retaliation 

155. Principal Sconiers sees her unprecedented six days of unpaid 

suspension, the accompanying litany of false performance “deficiencies” and 

illegal “directives,” and now her untimely discharge from DPS for what they are: 

transparent efforts to chill her speech and to undermine her ability to lead and 

make change where it is so desperately needed.  

156. To that end, the District cannot get its way.  

157. And make no mistake, this case is about far more than lost wages 

and benefits—which can be calculated. It is also about the anguish DPS and its 

leaders have caused Principal Sconiers as she has worked tirelessly to improve 

equity in education in a district where all the systems in place seem to conspire 

against it.  To that end, this case is about the schoolchildren of Duluth, too.    

COUNT ONE 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 
Violation of the First Amendment Right to Freedom of Speech 

RETALIATION 
Against all Defendants 

 
158. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated by reference as if full set 

forth herein.  

CASE 0:19-cv-02468   Document 1   Filed 09/09/19   Page 42 of 52



 

 43 

159. The District, a political subdivision of the State of Minnesota 

receiving money from public sources, is a person under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

160. Plaintiff engaged in constitutionally protected activity by, among 

other things, speaking as a citizen on matters of public concern. 

161. Defendants took adverse employment actions against Plaintiff 

because of her constitutionally protected speech, and/or it was a motivating 

factor in their decisions to take those actions against her.  

162. Defendants also illegally placed restraints on Plaintiff’s speech in 

retaliation for her speech. 

163. Defendants’ actions have deprived Plaintiff of her right to freedom 

of speech as guaranteed by the First Amendment of the Constitution of the 

United States.  

164. This violation of rights was proximately caused by Defendants, who 

were acting under color of state law, and local ordinances, regulations, customs 

or usages of the District and Defendants Gronseth and Horton in their official 

capacities in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

165. In addition, Defendants Gronseth and Horton acted in their 

individual capacities in subjecting Plaintiff to adverse employment actions for 

exercising her First Amendment rights.   

166. Defendants’ actions were willful, deliberate and intended to cause 

Plaintiff harm and/or were committed with reckless disregard of the harm 
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caused to Plaintiff, and were in derogation of Plaintiff’s federally protected 

rights.  

167. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions against 

Plaintiff, she has been damaged and is entitled to the relief set forth in the Prayer 

for Relief below.  

COUNT TWO 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 
Violation of the First Amendment Right to Freedom of Association 

RETALIATION 
Against all Defendants 

 
168. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated by reference as if full set 

forth herein.  

169. The District, a political subdivision of the State of Minnesota 

receiving money from public sources, is a person under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

170. Plaintiff is a black woman, a mother, a parent of former DPS 

schoolchildren, a resident of Duluth, Minnesota, an educator, and generally 

interested in equity in education as a means to close the achievement gap among 

black schoolchildren, among other marginalized groups, who engaged in 

expressive association within the meaning of the First Amendment to the 

Constitution by assembling with the Equity Team for the purpose of advocating 

for changes within DPS to the financing structures that took money earmarked 

for at-risk student populations and redistributed them to other areas of the 
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District, among other systemic changes, in exercising their First Amendment 

rights to freedom of expression and association. 

171. Plaintiff engaged in constitutionally protected activity by, among 

other things, associating and assembling with other citizens to advocate for 

change at DPS and exercise their First Amendment rights to freedom of 

expression and association.  

172. Defendants took adverse employment actions against Plaintiff 

because of her constitutionally protected associational activities, and/or they 

were motivating factors in their decisions to take those actions against her.  

173. Defendants’ actions have deprived Plaintiff of her right to freedom 

of association as guaranteed by the First Amendment of the Constitution of the 

United States.  

174. This violation of rights was proximately caused by Defendants, who 

were acting under color of state law, and local ordinances, regulations, customs 

or usages of the District and Defendants Gronseth and Horton in their official 

capacities in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

175. In addition, Defendants Gronseth and Horton acted in their 

individual capacities in subjecting Plaintiff to adverse employment actions for 

exercising her First Amendment rights.   

176. Defendants’ actions were willful, deliberate and intended to cause 

Plaintiff harm and/or were committed with reckless disregard of the harm 
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caused to Plaintiff, and were in derogation of Plaintiff’s federally protected 

rights.  

177. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions against 

Plaintiff, she has been damaged and is entitled to the relief set forth in the Prayer 

for Relief below. 

COUNT THREE  

MINN. STAT. § 363A.08 
Violation of the Minnesota Human Rights Act 

RACE DISCRIMINATION 
Against the District 

 
178. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference herein the foregoing 

allegations as though fully set forth herein. 

179. The District discriminated against Plaintiff on the basis of protected 

characteristics under Minn. Stat. § 363A.03 in violation of the MHRA including, 

but not necessarily limited to, race. 

180. The District discriminated against Plaintiff for all of the reasons 

alleged herein including, but not limited to, suspending Plaintiff without pay 

and discharging Plaintiff—DPS having done so because Plaintiff is black. 

181. The District presents no legitimate reason for this discrimination, 

and its stated motivation is pretext for discrimination. 

182. As a direct and proximate result of the District’s discrimination, 

Plaintiff has suffered damages, including but not limited to wage loss, loss of 
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benefits, mental anguish, emotional distress, humiliation, embarrassment, loss of 

reputation, and other pain and suffering in an amount to be proved at trial.  

COUNT FOUR  

MINN. STAT. § 363A.08 
Violation of the Minnesota Human Rights Act 

SEX DISCRIMINATION 
Against the District 

 
183. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference herein the foregoing 

allegations as though fully set forth herein. 

184. The District discriminated against Plaintiff on the basis of protected 

characteristics under Minn. Stat. § 363A.03 in violation of the MHRA including, 

but not necessarily limited to, sex. 

185. The District discriminated against Plaintiff for all of the reasons 

alleged herein including, but not limited to, suspending Plaintiff without pay 

and discharging Plaintiff—DPS having done so because Plaintiff is a woman. 

186. The District presents no legitimate reason for this discrimination, 

and its stated motivation is pretext for discrimination. 

187. As a direct and proximate result of the District’s discrimination, 

Plaintiff has suffered damages, including but not limited to wage loss, loss of 

benefits, mental anguish, emotional distress, humiliation, embarrassment, loss of 

reputation, and other pain and suffering in an amount to be proved at trial 
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COUNT FIVE  

MINN. STAT. § 363A.15 
Violation of the Minnesota Human Rights Act 

REPRISAL 
Against all Defendants 

 
188. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference herein the foregoing 

allegations as though fully set forth herein. 

189. Defendants committed unlawful employment practices by, among 

other things, suspending Plaintiff without pay in retaliation for her efforts to 

oppose practices reasonably believed to be prohibited by the MHRA and then 

discharging her in retaliation for the same protected conduct. 

190. Defendants present no legitimate reason for their retaliatory 

decision to subject Plaintiff to retaliatory conduct and any stated motivation is 

pretext for discrimination and retaliation. 

191. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ retaliation 

against Plaintiff for complaining about discrimination, Plaintiff has suffered 

damages, including but not limited to wage losses, mental anguish, emotional 

distress, humiliation, embarrassment, loss of reputation, and other pain and 

suffering in an amount to be proved at trial. 
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COUNT SIX 

MINN. STAT. § 181.932 
Violation of the Minnesota Whistleblower Act 

WHISTLEBLOWER RETALIATION 
Against the District 

 
192. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference herein the foregoing 

allegations as though fully set forth herein.  
193. The Minnesota Whistleblower Act (“MWA”) prohibits retaliation 

against employees for making good-faith reports of violations of law.  In 

particular:  

An employer shall not discharge, discipline, threaten, 
otherwise discriminate against, or penalize an employee 
regarding the employee’s compensation, terms, 
conditions, location, or privileges of employment 
because: 

(1) the employee, or a person acting on behalf of an 
employee, in good faith, reports a violation, suspected 
violation, or planned violation of any federal or state law 
or common law or rule adopted pursuant to law to an 
employer or to any governmental body or law 
enforcement official 

. . . . 

Minn. Stat. § 181.932, subd. 1(1). 

194. Plaintiff reported what she reasonably and in good faith believed to 

be, among other legal violations arising out of Plaintiff’s factual reports, 

violations of state “CompEd” funding laws and federal special education laws 

and regulations.  
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195. The District retaliated against Plaintiff because of her reports by, 

among other things, suspending her for five days without pay in March 2019 for 

reasons that are a pretext for retaliation and for similarly suspending her without 

pay on May 1, 2019, and then notifying her in a July 29 letter of her discharge 

from employment.   

196. The adverse employment actions alleged herein constitute violations 

of the MWA. 

197. The effect of the practices complained of above has been to deprive 

Plaintiff of equal employment opportunities and to adversely affect her status as 

an employee. 

198. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were 

intentional and were performed by the District with malice and/or with reckless 

indifference to the MWA, which protects Plaintiff. 

199. As a direct and proximate result of the District’s illegal conduct, 

Plaintiff has suffered, and continues to suffer, emotional distress, humiliation, 

embarrassment, pain and suffering, loss of reputation, loss of enjoyment of life, 

lost wages and benefits, and has incurred attorneys’ fees and expenses and other 

serious damages. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court: 

A. Assert jurisdiction over this matter; 

B. Enter judgment declaring that Defendants violated the 

Constitution of the United States and the statutes listed above; 

C. Award Plaintiff back-pay and front-pay in an amount to be 

determined at the trial of this case by the trier of fact;  

D. Award Plaintiff compensatory, non-economic damages in an 

amount to be determined by the trier of fact for mental anguish, 

loss of earning capacity, harm to reputation, and any other 

provable compensatory damages;  

E. Award Plaintiff her reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, 

disbursements; 

F. Award Plaintiff pre- and post-judgment interest;  

G. Declare the practices of Defendant illegal and enjoin all further 

such unlawful acts; and  

H. Grant Plaintiff such other and further relief as may be just and 

proper under the circumstances. 
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JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

Plaintiff demands a jury trial as to all claims so triable.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Dated:  September 9, 2019 HALLER KWAN LLP 
 

By:  /s/Benjamin R. Kwan  
Benjamin R. Kwan (MN #0395481)  
C. Ted Haller IV (MN #0396496) 

323 N. Washington Avenue 
Suite 200, T3 Building 
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55401 
612-206-3761 
ben@hallerkwan.com 
ted@hallerkwan.com  
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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